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FORFWORD

This booklel manks the completion of the St Tamea's
Graveyard Profect, unden the auspices of FAS. We
are greaily indebted fo Sean Murphy, Profect
Cormittee Chaiaman, and Tina Byane, Project
Co-ondinaton, fon preparing this pubfication,

which contains a xepoat of the wonk of fhe Project
Team a4 well a4 an index of some 500 memonial
inseniptions gathened in the counse of the profect.

A graveyarnd L4 primanily a place of burial and has
special associntions for those whose famifies axe
buried in its s0if. A grnaveyard also contains the
stony of a community, giving us 'Life stonies in
stone' of Lthose people who Lived and wonked in oun
city in the past. It is the first time that the
inseriptions in St Tamea's Gravewand have been
pubfished and it is appropriate thal 1his wonk
shoufd be associated with the Graveyand Project.
The hookfet, no doubt, will attract infevest not
only frxom those in the Local community, whose
ancestons ave bunied in the graveyand, but from
aflf who have an interest in the henitfage of oun

e iy,

JOHN CRAWFORD
St Cathenine's and 5t James's Chusch,
Ponone Avenue, South Cireufar Road

PENTS LAVERTY
8¢ James's Church, James's Streed
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TMTROTUCTION

The St. James's Graveyard Project began in September
1987 as a C.Y.T.P. Heritage Project in James's Street,
bublin. It was sponsored by FAS, the Training and
Employment Agency, and the St. James's Development
Association.

The aim of the project was to restore 5t, James's
Church of Ireland Graveyard, one of the oldest anpd
the largest of the inner city praveyards. Initally
the work was concentrated on three main areas:

(1) The Clearing of the site of the dense cover
of weeds and brambles.

{2}  Surveying the site in order to create an
acenrate working map of the graveyard which
would show the exact location of all head
-stones and tombs.

(3) Recording the headstone inscriptions; which
provide a valuable and largely unrecognised
soiree of loecal history.

Work began with a co-ordinator, two assislants and
eight trainecs and the team inereased to eighteen
as the project progressed. The first task was to
clear the site of the dense overgrowth of weeds
and brambles which covered the 1! acres. This was
a huge taslk, involving the vse of a 'weedeater' and
pardening equipment, kindly lent by Duhlin Corpor-
ation, Welfare Section. The aren was then raked
and the vegetation burped. HNo insecticides were
ugsed and as many of the mature trees and shrubs
as possible were maintained.
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Introduet ion

Work then began on surveying the site using

a theodolite and a dumpy level. These allowed
dccurate measurements to be taken at various
levels on site so a precise map could be plotted,
showing all headstones and grave markinps.

When the site was cleared of overgrown vegelation,
work could begin on recording the many headstone
inscriptions, over 500 in all, The earliest dates
From 1627. Although the gravevard was officially
closed for burials since 1954, some Families
retained burial rights. In fact, the last burial
cccurred in 1976.

Using the headstone inscriptions as a source the
team began research into the history of the site

and those buried there. This culminated in a very
successful exhibition which was held from April 21 -
May 15 1988, in the Royal Hospital, Kilmainham.

We were also able to put on display some of the
artefacts found in the course of the restoration
work. These ranged from two medieval stones
(dated 15th-16th centuries) to 19th century grave
ornaments and 1950's milk bottles.

A copy of the full list of headstone inscriptions
together with the site map showing their location

in the graveyard, have been deposited in the main
archives and libraries in Dublin. The exhibition
material and the St. .James's Parish Hegisters, which
date Erom 1742, are housed in the Representative
Church Body Library, Bracmor Park, Dublin 14.



HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The exact foundation date of St. James's Church

is not known, and the earliest documented reference
to the church is in a list of the lands of the Abbey
of St. Thomas dated 1268 (Gilbert ed, 1889, p.3).
Borh St. James and its sister chuvch of St. Catherine
were attached to the Abbey of St. Thomas, which was
founded in 1177 to commemorate Thomas a Becket, the
murdered Archbishop of Canterbury. The most Rev.
Nicholas Donnelly claimed that an original document
defining the boundaries of St. James's Parish, as
marked out by S5t. Laurence 0'Toole, was preserved

in the Dublin munieipal archives (Donnelly, 1904,

p. 26), but no trace of this document has yet been
found. All that can be said at present therefore

is that 8t. James's Church may have been Founded
sometime in the late twelfth century, most probably
after the establishment of St. Thomas's Abbey in 1177.

St. James's Church is dedicated to the apostle St
James the Greater, the patron saint of Spain whose
remains are traditionally believed to have heen

buried in Santiago de Compostela in Galicia. In the
middle ages Compostela was one of the great pilgrimage
centres of Christendom, and Ireland had particularly
close links with the city (Haves, 1948, pp 326 =1332).
In 1210 Archbishop Henry established a Dublin hostel
for pilgrims preparing to travel to Compostela, and
St. James's Church itself could well have been a
gathering place for pilgrims. Coincidentally, the
Dublin St. James's Graveyard Project has been complet-
ed in a year in which the Council of Europe has
designated the pilgrim route to Santiago ('Camino de
Santiago') the first European Cultural Route.

12



Historical background

As a result of the Beformation of Henry VIII, St.
Thomas's Abbey was dissolved in 1539 in common with
other Irish monasteries (Morrin ed, 1861, PP 55-56,
134). Following the Reformation, two separate
ecclesiastical systems operated in Ireland, one, the
'rotestant and officially approved Established Clurch
of Ireland, the other, the unofficial and frequently
persecuted Roman Catholic Church. The Church of
Ireland parishes of St. Catherine, Si James and

St. John of Kilmainham were united in 1545, remaining
thus until they were again divided into the separate
parishes of St. Catherine and St. James by an Act

of Parliament in 1707 (Morrin ed, 1861, p 122;

Irish Statutes, 4, chapter 21).

Though united with the parish of St. Catherine, a
separate church of St. James was maintained over

Lthe centuries, as demonstrated by various veferences
in ancient deeds of the Lwo parishes (ITwiss ed, 1919,
pp 277-9). Among the projects most significant [inds
were two Fifteenth and sixteenth century stone
[ragments, both probably part of the fabric of an
older church building. Archbishop Bulkeley's
visitation of 1630 recorded that 'the Church

of Bt. James is new covered but not glassed, the
chancel down' (Ronan ed, 1941, p 62), indicating

that the church may then have been undergoing
rebuilding.

The earliest documentation of the exact site of

St. James's church is in Bernard de Gomme's 1673

map of Dublin, which shows the church in its present
location, though then still surrounded by fields and
at a distance from the city proper. A new church
was constructed shortly after the recreation of St.
James's Parish in 1707, but this collapsed in 1761
and while it was being restored parishoners worship-
ped in the chapel of Dr. Steeven's Hospital. The

13
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Histondical background

present church was constructed in 1859-60, had its
spire removed in 1948 and was closed in 1963, since
which time the building has been used for commercial
purpeses (Crawford, 1988, pp 20-1). ‘The wheel has
now come Full cirecle, for St. Catherine's, St. James's
and other south-west city Church of Ireland parishes
arve once more united and based in a church in Donore
Avenue.

The Catholic parishes of St. Catherine and 5t. James
remained united until 1724, at which time both parishes
were sharing a chapel in Dirty Lane. A new St. James's
chapel was constructed in the 1740's at the east corner
of Watling Street. The foundation stone of the present
church in James's Street was laid in 1844 by Daniel
0'Connell (Donnelly, nd, pp 229-30, 233). A feature of
the application of the penal laws was that Catholics
were not permitted to maintain their own graveyards in
Dublin, and were obliged to use those of the Church of
Ireland. St. James's was the yard used most hy Dublin
catholics during penal times, and the eolourful annual
ceremony of decorating graves during S5t. James's Fair
is described below. To this day a custom is remembered
locally of carrying coffins three times around the
Fountain outside St. James's Graveyard before burial*

Dublin's St. James's Fair provided another point of
similarity with Santiago de Compostela, which also

held an annuwal fair in honour of the saint. An Irish
College was established in Santiapo in 1605 and close
educational and trading links between Spain and Ireland
continued until the eighteenth century at least. There
are in Fact entries of baptisms and marriages of
Spaniards during the 1740's iu the registers of St.
Andrew's catholic parish in Dublin. The priest who
made the entries was probably Fr. Patrick Quinn, who
was educated in Santiapo and was buried in St. James's
Graveyard in 1754 (Reportorium Novum, 2, 1957-8 pp
145-6).

*Informatlon of Stephen Mongon snd Jamas Waldron,

15



St James's Guaveyand

Many catholie religious were buried in St. James's
praveyard over the centuries, including possibly

Bishop Conor C'Devaney (executed 1612), Fr. Redmond
McCarron (1666), Rev. Dr. William Gahan (1804), and
Dominican nuns of Channel Row Convent, including

one of the foundresses, Mother Mary Bellew, who died
in 1726 {(Mary Genevieve, 1968, p 236Y. Church of
ireland clergymen attached te St. James and buried
in the graveyard include Rev. John Ellis (1764),
Rev. William Tisdall (1755), Rev. Richard Connolly
(1848) and Rev. Charles Tomlinson (1878).

The most notable person buried in St, James's is

Sir Toby Butler (1650-1721}, golicitor-general under
James 1T and advocate of the catholic case against
the penal laws, and his is also the most imposing
monument in the graveyard (see illustration).

Other noteworthy tombs include these of the hrewer
William Espinasse (1740) and John Bonham (1781).
These are also memorials to members of the British
Army, Irish Volunteers and IRA, and one to William
Limerick Martin, an RIC district inspector killed

in Gweedore, Co. Donegal, in 1889. OF special
interest to the social historian will be the details
of trades and ocecupations and addresses on tombstones
and examples of these are given below.

In all some 705 tombstones were uncovered by the
project, of which 537 had legible inseriptions, the
earliest dated 1627. Typescript copies of the
memorial inseriptions, together with a site map, have
been deposited in the main Dublin libraries, and a
full surname / date / map reference index is given
at the end of this booklet. A mere six inscriptions
were published in the Journal of the Association

for Preservation of the Memorials of the Dead in
Ireland, and these are indicated in the typescript.

14



fiistonical background

The vast majority of the tens of thousands buried

in the graveyard over the centuries were not
commemorated by monuments. Fortunately, the burial
registers of St. James's have survived from 1742,

and before that date some burials are recorded in

St. Catherine's registers (Wood ed, 1908, p v et seq),
The earliest indication of a burial in St. James's is
recorded in the will of Walter Segyne or Soggyn,
proved 1495, in which he asked to be buried 'in the
church of St. James without the city' (Twiss ed, 1919,
pp 268, 275). S5t, James's burial registers show that
between 1742 and 1836 approximately 30,000 individuals
were buried in the graveyard, and it is to Le hoped
that these and other Dublin parish registers will
eventually be fully indexed. In the meantime, it has
been the achievement of the St. James's Project team
to produce a comprehensive and accessible record of
the wemorial inscriptions in the graveyard, in a way
which should act as a model For similar projects.

Earllest tombstone, 1627 (D K A N)
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St James's Graveyard

Martin memorinl, 1BBT
(Celtle Revival style)

Skull and erossbones from
1Bth—century headstans
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